IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Oct 11 2024
02:33PM EDT
Transaction ID 74741686

ALEXANDER FLEMING, CAROLE
CARTER, CAROL GALLANT,
BARBARA HUMES, and BENJAMIN
BUCKLEY,

Petitioners,

vs.

No. 24-373

MITCH CARMICHAEL, in His Official
Capacity as Secretary of the West Virginia
Department of Economic Development, and
MIKE GRANEY, in His Official Capacity
as Director of the West Virginia Department
of Economic Development,

Respondents.

BRIEF FOR PETITIONERS

Robert M. Bastress, Jr. # 263
P.O. Box 1295
Morgantown, W. Va. 26507
(304) 319-0860
rmbastress@gmail.com

Counsel for Petitioners

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The circuit court erred in ruling that the prior litigation in Jefferson Circuit, *Public Asset Protection, Inc. v. Town of Harpers Ferry*, collaterally barred petitioners' special law and equal protection claims, notwithstanding the lack of privity between the plaintiffs in that case and this one.

2. The circuit court erred in ruling that the Tourism Development Act does not create a special law in violation of Article VI, §§ 39 and 39a of the West Virginia Constitution, notwithstanding its extremely narrow classification and improbability of additional application.

3. The circuit court erred in ruling that the Tourism Development Act does not violate the equal protection and due process principles in Article III, 10 of the West Virginia Constitution.

4. The circuit court erred in ruling that the Tourism Development Act does not violate plaintiffs' rights under Article III, §§ 1, 2, and 3 and Article IV, § 1 of the West Virginia Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

This cases focuses on a constitutional challenge to legislation enacted in 2020, the Tourism Development District Act, now West Virginia Code § 5B-1-9. The law authorized the State Economic Development Office to designate tourism development districts in up to five towns under 2,000 for projects with a minimum investment of \$25 million. Upon such designation, the districts would be immunized from virtually all aspects of municipal regulation.

The Kanawha Circuit Court granted defendants' motion to dismiss the amended

complaint. The court found that the plaintiffs’ special law and equal protection claims were barred by collateral estoppel because of prior litigation in Jefferson Circuit Court. The lower court also rejected each of plaintiffs’ constitutional claims on the merits. Because the case was decided on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the facts alleged in the amended complaint must be accepted as true. *E.g., Wiggins v. Eastern Associated Coal Company*, 178 W. Va. 63, 357 S.E.2d 745 (1987). On this appeal, all questions presented are questions of fact, which are reviewed *de novo*. *E.g., State ex rel. Frazier v. Thompson*, 243 W. Va. 46, 51, 842 S.E.2d 250, 255 (2020); *Crystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, Syl Pt. 1, 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

Statement of Facts

During the 2020 legislative session, the Legislature enacted the Tourism Development Act (“the Act”), which has been codified at West Virginia Code § 5B-1-9. The law was enacted at the behest of SWaN Hill Top Partners, LLC (“SWaN”), who was planning to construct a luxury hotel at the summit of Harpers Ferry, West Virginia. The Act authorizes the Department of Economic Development to approve up to five “tourism development districts” (“TDDs”) in municipalities under 2,000 for tourism projects that cost at least \$25 million. Once designated as such, a TDD is virtually insulated from municipal regulation. According to subsection (l) of the Act, TDDs “may not be subject to the following:

- (1) Municipal zoning, historic preservation, horticultural, noise, viewshed, lighting, development, or land use ordinances, restrictions, limitations, or approvals;
- (2) Municipal regulation of the sale of alcoholic liquor, nonintoxicating beer, or wine for consumption within the tourism development district;
- (3) Municipal building permitting, inspection, or code enforcement;
- (4) Municipal license requirements;

(5) The legal jurisdiction of the municipality in which the tourism development district is entirely or partially located, except as specifically provided in this article;

(6) The implementation of any tax, fee, or charge by the municipality, except as specifically provided in this section; or

(7) Any requirement under state law for the consent or approval of the municipality in which the tourism development district is entirely or partially located of any state or county action pursuant to this code, specifically including, but not limited to, §7-11B-1 *et seq.* of this code, for formal consent of the governing body of a municipality for county or state action regarding the establishment of tax increment financing development or redevelopment districts or the approval of tax increment financing development or redevelopment plans.

The section also expressly bars use of a municipality's home rule powers to regulate a TDD on any of the specified subjects. Respondents, the officials charged with administering the Act, have designated SWaN's hotel project as a TDD. The complaint also alleged (on information and belief) that the SWaN site contains materials that are dangerous to public health and safety, yet the site persists unregulated and unpoliced by the Town of Harpers Ferry. Complaint ¶¶ 19-21; Joint Appendix ("JA") at 23-24.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court and the Intermediate Court of Appeals erred in concluding that prior litigation in Jefferson Circuit, *Public Asset Protection, Inc. v. Corporation of Harpers Ferry*, Civ. Act. No. CC-19-2021 (2022) ("*PAPF*"), collaterally estops the petitioners from pursuing their claims in this case. "Collateral estoppel will bar a claim if four conditions are met: (1) The issue previously decided is identical to the one presented in question; (2) there is a final adjudication on the merits of the prior action; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was a party or in privity with a party to a prior action; and (4) the party against whom the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action." *Haba v.*

Big Arm Bar and Grill, Inc., 196 W. Va. 129, 133, 468 S.E.2d 915, 919 (1996); *State v. Miller*, Syl. Pt. , 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Several reasons preclude applying collateral estoppel to petitioners' claims.

First, *PAPI* attempted to *negate* the exercise of municipal power to transfer city property to a private developer. The present litigation seeks to *protect* municipal power from an overreaching state law. The two cases thus raise different issues. Second, petitioners were not parties in the *PAPI* case, and there is no privity between *PAPI* and the petitioners. Petitioners thus never had the "full and fair opportunity" in the *PAPI* litigation to advance their claims in the manner that due process requires. *Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore*, 439 U.S. 322, 328 (1979). Third, defendants'/respondents' "invocation of collateral estoppel in the instant matter is deemed to be offensive collateral estoppel because [defendants were] not part[ies] in the [*PAPI*] action." *Holloman v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co.*, 217 W. Va. 269, 274, 617 S.E.2d 816, 221 (2005). "[T]he offensive use of collateral estoppel is generally disfavored in this jurisdiction." *Id.*, 217 W. Va. at 275, 617 S.E.2d at 222.

The Tourism Development Act, W. Va. Code § 5B-1-9, creates a special law in violation of Article VI, §§ 39, which prohibits the Legislature from enacting local or special laws in eighteen enumerated categories as well as in any case "where a general law would be proper, and can be made applicable to the case." Among the specific prohibitions is a ban on local or special laws that concern "regulating or changing county or district affairs." Article VI, § 39a supplements that by prohibiting special laws regarding municipal incorporation or governance. By enacting § 5B-1-9 creating Tourism Development Districts ("TDDs") for projects costing at least \$25 million in only towns under 2,000 and in no more than five of them, the Legislature has

seriously offended the principles of Sections 39 and 39a which promote equality and forestall special treatment. Section 5B-1-9, however, is a product written by and for one particular developer and is framed in such narrow (“special”) terms that its purpose to bestow benefits on that particular developer is patent. *City of Charleston v. Bosely*, 165 W. Va. 332, 268 S.E.2d 590 (1980), addressed the validity under § 39 of a law authorizing Class I cities – and no others – to impose a tax on hotel occupancy. The Court found that the law violated § 39: “The promotion of tourism and the development of civic facilities to stimulate community growth are statewide concerns. The legislature acts arbitrarily and unreasonably in providing a mechanism to local governments if it excludes a single municipality on the basis of population. . . . This is the fundamental meaning of W. Va. Const. Art. 6, § 39.” *Id.*, 165 W. Va. at 341-42, 268 S.E.2d at 596.

Section 5B-1-9 violates the equal protection principles established by Article III, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution. The section’s classification restricting TDDs to five towns under 2,000 bears no reasonable relationship to the purported goal of promoting tourism in the State. There is also no point to the \$25 million minimum. Principles of equality and fundamental fairness cannot abide singling out a particular small town in the State for dismantling its regulatory powers *and* for precluding it (and only it) from using the home rule options provided by West Virginia Code § 8-1-5a.

Article III, § 1 establishes that individuals “have certain inherent rights” embracing “the enjoyment of life and liberty, with the means of acquiring and possessing property, and of pursuing and obtaining happiness and safety.” Article III, § 3 further provides that “Government is instituted for the common benefit, protection and security of the people, nation or community.

Of all its various forms [the best] is capable of producing the greatest degree of happiness and safety.” Interpreting those provisions, the Supreme Court has held that the term “safety . . . conveys protection from harm.” *Women’s Health Center v. Panepinto*, 191 W. Va. 436, 443-44, 446 S.E.2d 658, 665-66 (1993). As alleged in the amended complaint, SWaN’s TDD site contains dangerous materials, yet § 5B-1-9 precludes the town from not only acting to prevent serious harm but also from even gathering the facts to determine the nature and degree of the risks. At a minimum, plaintiffs are entitled to an opportunity to prove the risks involved and the inadequacy of the regulatory scheme created by § 5B-1-9.

Finally, by exempting SWaN from municipal regulation, § 5B-1-9 substantially dilutes the plaintiffs’ right to vote in municipal elections, as guaranteed to them by Article IV, § 1 of the West Virginia Constitution. The Act seriously diminishes the effectiveness of petitioners’ votes by removing from the elected municipal officials the ability to control and regulate significant and important property within their town.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This case presents important constitutional issues regarding the validity of the Act and the protection of petitioners’ political rights. The issues also involve matters of fundamental public importance and of first impression. The case would therefore benefit from Rule 20 oral argument.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONERS ARE NOT COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM PURSUING THEIR CLAIMS BY THE DECISION OF THE JEFFERSON CIRCUIT COURT IN *PUBLIC ASSET PROTECTION, INC. v. CORPORATION OF HARPERS FERRY*.

The circuit court held that the Jefferson Circuit Court’s ruling in *Public Asset Protection*,

Inc. v. Corporation of Harpers Ferry, Civ. Act. No. CC-19-2021 (2022), JA at 51-71, collaterally estops the petitioners from pursuing their claims in this case.¹ The circuit court was mistaken.

“Collateral estoppel will bar a claim if four conditions are met: (1) The issue previously decided is identical to the one presented in question; (2) there is a final adjudication on the merits of the prior action; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was a party or in privity with a party to a prior action; and (4) the party against whom the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action.” *Haba v. Big Arm Bar and Grill, Inc.*, 196 W. Va. 129, 133, 468 S.E.2d 915, 919 (1996); *State v. Miller*, Syl. Pt. 1, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Several reasons preclude application of collateral estoppel to petitioners’ claims.

First, *PAPI* attempted to *negate* the exercise of municipal power to transfer city property to a private developer. The present litigation seeks to *protect* municipal power from an overreaching state law. The two cases thus raise different issues. The *PAPI* complaint invoked none of the claims upon which plaintiffs rely. Exhibit D to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, JA at 78-100. Apparently, at some point in that litigation, a question was raised as to the constitutionality of the Tourism Development statute, but the issue was accorded only two and a half pages of cursory analysis in the circuit court’s opinion. Exhibit A to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, JA at 79-100. That court did not address – at all – claims that are critical to this case involving equal protection, safety, and voting rights. *See* Amended Complaint ¶’s 24-25, JA at

¹The Intermediate Court of Appeals noted at page 8, n.7, of its opinion that respondents had asked the court at oral argument “to tailor [its] review to the issue of the constitutionality not the application of collateral estoppel.” JA at 320. Consequently, the ICA did not address that subject. Presumably, then, the circuit court’s ruling on collateral estoppel stands unreviewed.

24; Parts III and IV, *infra*.

Second, and most importantly, the parties against whom estoppel is invoked here – the plaintiffs/petitioners – were obviously not parties to the earlier litigation, nor were they in any way in privity with Public Asset Protection, Inc., or any of its members. PAPI was a corporation that sought to nullify transactions between Harpers Ferry and SWaN, JA at 79, while petitioners are Harpers Ferry residents seeking to protect the Town’s municipal powers. Because petitioners were not parties in the PAPI litigation, they could not have had the “full and fair opportunity” in that case to advance their claims in the manner that due process requires. *Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore*, 439 U.S. 322, 328 (1979); *Haba, supra*; *Conley v. Spillers*, 171 W. Va. 584, 589-90 n.6, 594, 301 S.E.2d 216, 231, 226 (1983). Nor is there any basis for finding privity between PAPI and the petitioners. Privity applies only when there is a sufficiently close relationship between the prior litigants and the present ones such as to justify estoppel, as when a non-party succeeds to the prior party’s interest in property and is bound by a prior judgment or when a non-party has controlled the prior law suit and then attempts to relitigate it. *Id.*, 171 W. Va. at 594, 301 S.E.2d at 226; Restatement (Second) of Judgments, *Introduction* at 1 (1982). The only connection between PAPI or its members and the plaintiffs is, maybe, a common residency in Harpers Ferry, but that does not establish the kind of relationship that would warrant an estoppel.² Nor is the fact that petitioner Fleming “participated” (Trial Court Order at 4-5 and 8-9, JA at 208-09 and 212-13) in the earlier law suit by attesting to an evidentiary affidavit even

²For example, if Harpers Ferry imposed a fee on a resident who challenges the assessment as unconstitutional and loses, a second resident subsequently assessed the fee would not be estopped from contesting the fee’s validity. See, e.g., *Harper v. Virginia Board of Elections*, 383 U.S. 663 (1966) (poll tax was unconstitutional) *overruling Breedlove v. Settles*, 302 U.S. 277 (1937) (poll tax was constitutional).

relevant to determining privity and could not, in any event, have any estoppel effect on the remaining plaintiffs/petitioners.

Third, defendants'/respondents' "invocation of collateral estoppel in the instant matter is deemed to be offensive collateral estoppel because [defendants were] not part[ies] in the [*PAPI*] action." *Holloman v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co.*, 217 W. Va. 269, 274, 617 S.E.2d 816, 221 (2005). "[T]he offensive use of collateral estoppel is generally disfavored in this jurisdiction[.]" but "rests in the discretion of the trial court." *Id.*, 217 W. Va. at 275, 617 S.E.2d at 222; *accord*, *Parklane Hosiery*, *supra*; 439 U.S. at 331; *Conley*, *supra*, 171 W. Va. at 592, 301 S.E.2d at 228, *quoting* *Parklane*. In this case, the circuit court's exercise of discretion failed to factor in not only the unfairness of barring *these* plaintiffs, who have never had a bite at the apple, but also the facts that the case presents important constitutional questions and that most of them were not addressed by the *PAPI* court. To the extent that case did address a possibly overlapping issue – that regarding special or local legislation – it went beyond the scope of the pleadings in the litigation and the Jefferson circuit court gave the issue only a perfunctory treatment. That is not the kind of consideration to which the plaintiffs are entitled on a significant constitutional question.

The *PAPI* decision does not estop the petitioners from pursuing their claims in this litigation.

II. WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 5B-1-9 CREATES LOCAL AND SPECIAL LEGISLATION THAT VIOLATES ARTICLE VI, §§ 39 AND 39a OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION.

Article VI, § 39 prohibits the Legislature from enacting local or special laws in eighteen enumerated categories as well as in any case "where a general law would be proper, and can be

made applicable to the case.” “‘Special laws’ include laws that focus on individual cases or that classify a narrow class of individuals, groups, or entities for special treatment. ‘Local laws’ limit their application to a specific locale within the state rather than applying statewide. Thus, special laws classify by persons, places, or things, and local laws classify by places. *State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer*[], 149 W. Va. 740 143 S.E.2d 351] (1965); *Tweel v. West Virginia Racing Commn.*[], 138 W. Va. 531, 76 S.E.2d 874] (1953).” ROBERT M. BASTRESS, JR., THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE CONSTITUTION 195 (2016). Among the specific prohibitions is a ban on local or special laws regarding “regulating or changing county or district affairs.” Article VI, § 39a supplements that by prohibiting local laws regarding municipal incorporation or governance and further requires that the “Legislature shall provide by general laws for . . . the government of cities, towns, and villages.” By enacting § 5B-1-9 creating Tourism Development Districts (“TDDs”) for projects costing at least \$25 million in only towns under 2,000 and in no more than five of them, § 5B-1-9(d)(f) and (j), the Legislature has seriously offended the principles of Sections 39 and 39a. Those sections aim “to preserve uniformity and consistency in statutory enactments,” *State ex rel. Taxpayers Protective Association of Raleigh County v. Hanks*, 157 W. Va. 350, 352, 201 S.E.2d 304, 306,(1973), and to “discourage[] that private solicitation of the [legislative] members, the tendency of which is to introduce corruption and bribery as elements of legislation.” *Id.*, 157 W. Va. at 353, 201 S.E.2d at 306, *quoting* III DEBATES AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE FIRST CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION OF WEST VIRGINIA 831. In so doing, the two sections promote equal treatment and forestall special treatment favoring or disadvantaging particular groups and locales. In modern lingo, the sections limit the effects of special interest lobbying. As alleged in the amended complaint at ¶ 14, JA at 9, § 5B-

1-9 flaunts those purposes because it is a product written by and for one particular developer and is framed in such narrow (“special”) terms that its purpose to bestow benefits on that particular developer is patent.

Concededly, courts have been deferential to the Legislature in applying §§ 39 and 39a. Legislatures could not function without the ability to classify. Indeed, § 39a itself requires the Legislature to classify cities into two to five classes based on their population. *See* W. Va. Code § 8-1-3. Yet, there *are* limits. A court must determine “whether the basis of the classification is natural, reasonable and appropriate to the object sought to accomplished.” *Hanks, supra*, 157 W. Va. at 358, 201 S.E.2d at 308; *accord, City of Charleston v. Bosely*, 165 W. Va. 332, 340, 268 S.E.2d 590, 595 (1980). Restricting tourism development to five towns under 2,000 – and no other sites – is on its face absurd, but *Bosely* renders its unconstitutionality patent. That case addressed the validity under § 39 of a law authorizing Class I cities – and no others – to impose a tax on hotel occupancy. The Court’s opinion voiding the law as special legislation decides this case.

The Court’s task here is precisely the same as the Court’s in *Bosely*:

What we must determine [is] whether the legislative classification restricting the authority to tax hotel occupancy to Class I cities is natural and reasonable and is appropriate to the purpose of the statute, which is to promote tourism and to provide for economic development[.]

165 W. Va. at 340, 268 S.E.2d at 595. The classification did not meet that standard; the Court could “see no rational reason to restrict the benefits of the tax to the State’s only Class I cities, Charleston and Huntington.” 165 W. Va. at 341, 268 S.E.2d at 596. Other communities in the State could benefit as well:

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