IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 24-373

SCA EFiled: Nov 25 2024
10:30AM EST
Transaction ID 75080711

ALEXANDER FLEMING, CAROLE CARTER,
CAROL GALLANT, BARBARA HUMES, and
BENJAMIN BUCKLEY,

Petitioners,

v.

MITCH CARMICHAEL, in His Official Capacity
as Secretary of the West Virginia Department of
Economic Development, and MIKE GRANEY, in
His Official Capacity as Director of the West
Virginia Department of Economic Development,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Circuit Court of Kanawha County Case Nos. 22-C-20 to 22-C-24

Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia Case No. 23-ICA-174

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Michael R. Williams (WV Bar # 14148)

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioners’ brief is nearly identical to the briefs they filed in circuit court, *see* A.R. 140-152, and the Intermediate Court of Appeals. *See* A.R. 229-251. It is no more persuasive now than it was then.

I. The circuit court and the Intermediate Court of Appeals correctly held that the District Act is a general law that satisfies equal protection principles. The Act does not target certain persons or entities. Nor does it set up certain things for success to the detriment of others. It simply grants a benefit to up to five large tourism development projects that private parties want to locate in small municipalities—towns that will reap the outsized benefits of tourism without bearing the (often insurmountable) burden of regulating the large projects. This distinction is a rational and reasonable classification that the Legislature is empowered to make.

II. Petitioners’ remaining arguments have no merit, and the circuit court and the Intermediate Court of Appeals were correct to dismiss those, too. Petitioners fret that the District Act will transform Harpers Ferry into a regulation-free zone. But the District Act merely transfers a subset of regulation to the State while leaving the rest in place. This shift does not infringe on any sort of right to “self rule” (chiefly because it does not exist), impair the Petitioners’ right to vote (because it is not implicated), or give rise to safety concerns (because the Act is economic, and town-driven safety measures remain firmly in place).

III. Even setting the merits aside, the circuit court was right to deny Petitioners a second chance as to their special-act and equal-protection attacks on the District Act. The nonprofit corporation representing Petitioners’ interests—and possibly Petitioners themselves—raised those exact arguments in the earlier action. And Petitioners’ home-county forum provided a full and fair opportunity to litigate those arguments on its way to resolving them with a final judgment. Petitioners were not entitled to relitigate those same claims again in a second action just because those claims were about to fail in the first one. Collateral estoppel was intended to prevent litigants from burdening their opponents and the courts by relitigating issues over and over in different

forums. Petitioners' special-act and equal-protection claims cannot go forward for this alternative reason as well.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioners' arguments lack support in the relevant record and case law, and thus fail to identify any basis for reversal. Oral argument is not necessary, and a memorandum decision affirming the ruling below is appropriate. *See* W. VA. R. APP. P. 21. That said, Respondents stand ready to appear in defense of this important economic legislation if this Court finds it helpful. And if the Court is inclined to hear argument on this case, Respondents request that the Court set argument as soon as reasonably practicable given how long this case has progressed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*." Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995). When, as here, an "appeal requires [this Court] to pass upon the constitutionality" of a statute, "the constitutionality of [that] statute is a question of law which this Court reviews *de novo*." *Morrissey v. W. Va. AFL-CIO*, 243 W. Va. 86, 99, 842 S.E.2d 455, 468 (2020); *see also* syl. pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995) ("Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review."). Yet, the Court "must be cognizant of the separation of powers and the near plenary authority of the Legislature to act within constitutional boundaries." *Morrissey*, 243 W. Va. at 99, 842 S.E.2d at 468. So parties challenging the constitutionality of statutes generally face an uphill climb. "[A]cts of the Legislature are presumed to be constitutional," and they should be interpreted "in any reasonable way which will

sustain [their] constitutionality.” *Id.* To prevail, challengers must negate that presumption “beyond [a] reasonable doubt.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The District Act is a general law.

This Court should hold (as three other courts have) that the District Act is a general law, not a special one.

A. Our Constitution prohibits passing “a special act” “where a general law would be proper,” W. VA. CONST. art. VI, § 39, and requires that the Legislature “provide ... for the ... government of cities, towns and villages” “by general laws.” W. VA. CONST. art. VI, § 39a. But otherwise, the powers of the Legislature to pass statutes governing municipal affairs “are almost plenary,” Syl. pt. 1, *State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer*, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965): “the Legislature may at any time modify, change or withdraw any power” “granted by general law” to municipalities. Syl. pt. 3, *Cooper v. City of Charleston*, 218 W. Va. 279, 624 S.E.2d 716 (2005). As the circuit court and the Intermediate Court of Appeals held below, the District Act is not a special law. A.R. 213-217, 326.

The touchstone here is this Court’s repeated recognition that the Legislature has “the power ... to make reasonable classifications for legislative purposes.” Syl. pt. 16, *State v. Beaver*, 248 W. Va. 177, 887 S.E.2d 610 (2022) (quoting syl. pt. 7, *Gainer*, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351). The point of the “special law” provision is to simply prevent “the unequal conferring of statutory benefits” through “arbitrary” classes that can and cannot benefit from a law. *Beaver*, 248 W. Va. at 201, 887 S.E.2d at 634 (quoting *State ex rel. City of Charleston v. Bosely*, 165 W. Va. 332, 339-40, 268 S.E.2d 590, 595 (1980)). A law is “special” only if it would apply equally “but for” “arbitrarily separat[ing] some persons, places, or things from others.” *State ex rel. Dieringer v. Bachman*, 131 W. Va. 562, 568, 48 S.E.2d 420, 425 (1948). So, in the past, laws have violated

this prohibition by empowering one lone county to create a public airport, *State ex rel. Greenbrier Cnty. Airport Auth. v. Hanna*, 151 W. Va. 479, 490, 153 S.E.2d 284, 290 (1967), excluding two judicial circuits from a statewide judicial pay raise statute, *State ex rel. Cnty. Ct. of Cabell Cnty. v. Battle*, 147 W. Va. 841, 847, 131 S.E.2d 730, 734 (1963), allowing only two cities to levy a hotel occupancy tax, *Bosely*, 165 W. Va. at 340, 268 S.E.2d at 595, and exempting two counties from a requirement that their courthouses remain open on Saturdays, *State ex rel. Taxpayers Protective Ass’n of Raleigh Cnty. v. Hanks*, 157 W. Va. 350, 358, 201 S.E.2d 304, 308 (1973). Nevertheless, the Constitution affords plenty of room for diverse lawmaking before the “special law” threshold is crossed. A law need not be “uniform in its operation and effect” to remain general. Syl. pt. 7, *State ex rel. Heck’s, Inc. v. Gates*, 149 W. Va. 421, 141 S.E.2d 369 (1965). It just needs to operate “alike on all persons and property similarly situated.” *Id.*

B. The District Act does just that. It does not relate “to particular persons, entities or things.” Syl. pt. 7, *Gainer*, 149 W. Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351. Nor does it bestow unique benefits or burdens on particular entities like the special laws courts have invalidated. Rather, it grants a benefit to any large tourism development project located in the State’s smallest municipalities that is approved as a District under the statute.

Hill Top may be the only development project that has sought designation as a District so far, but that does not mean the District Act is constitutionally flawed. See A.R. 324. The designation remains open to other qualifying developers, and Respondents are still aware—as they were at oral argument below—of other projects across West Virginia that would qualify if they chose to apply. A.R. 202. The statute’s requirements—projects with an “aggregate” cost of “\$25 million,” W. VA. CODE § 5B-1-9(d), in a small municipality, *id.* § 5B-1-9(a)—are broad enough to encompass different kinds of qualified applicants. Other projects involve aggregate costs many

times higher than that threshold. And other municipalities are already primed for such a hosting opportunity, *id.* § 8-1-3(4)—whether part of the Home Rule Program, *id.* § 5B-1-9(m)(2), or not, *id.* § 5B-1-9(m)(2). In short, the Act “does not single out Hill Top or Harper Ferry for unique treatment. Nor does it draw lines so narrowly that entry is closed to future applicants.” A.R. 324.

One thing that is certain about the District Act: it is not a “veiled attempt” to “singl[e] out” Hill Top or Harpers Ferry, Br. 13-14, as “particular persons, entities or things” slated to receive unique treatment. Syl. Pt. 7, *Gainer*, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351. Instead, it applies “uniformly [to] all persons and things of a class.” *Gallant v. Cnty. Comm’n of Jefferson Cnty.*, 212 W. Va. 612, 620, 575 S.E.2d 222, 230 (2002) (citation omitted). The class—large tourism development projects located in small municipalities—is “natural, reasonable and appropriate to the [Act’s] purpose.” *Id.* It creates no special hurdles for municipalities and projects that meet the general qualifications, and it “applies uniformly” to all developer-municipality combinations “who wish to take advantage of its provisions.” *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W. Va. 8, 24, 321 S.E.2d 302, 318 (1984).

C. Petitioners’ attacks on specific aspects of the District Act did not convince the circuit court, A.R. 216-217, or the Intermediate Court of Appeals, A.R. 320-328. They are no more convincing here.

For starters, it is not “absurd” and “unconstitutionally patent” for the District Act to create a class for tourism development for “five towns under 2,000” residents. Br. 11. The West Virginia Code teems with these sorts of class-size restrictions. *See, e.g.*, W. VA. CODE § 5B-2L-14(d) (2022) (permitting only three BUILD WV Act middle-class housing development districts); *id.* §§ 18-5G-1(g), 18-5G-13(a)(1) (2021) (allowing only ten in-person charter schools and two virtual charter schools during the 2023 school year); *id.* § 15A-4A-3 (2021) (authorizing the West Virginia

Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation to create “no more than a total of five” expanded work release locations); *id.* § 8-1-5a(c) (2019) (allowing only four Class IV municipalities to join the permanent Home Rule Program each year). Earlier versions of these statutes often imposed even more significant class-size limitations. *See, e.g.,* W. VA. CODE § 8-1-5a(c) (2007) (restricting the original Home Rule Pilot Program to five municipalities); *id.* § 18-5G-1(g) (2019) (limiting the number of in-person charter schools to three). Under Petitioners’ logic, all these laws should be deemed unconstitutional as unreasonable class restrictions. But class-size restrictions like these are constitutional because determinations of “the group or class to be” favored by a statute are “peculiarly a legislative judgment.” *Gibson v. W. Va. Dep’t of Highways*, 185 W. Va. 214, 220, 406 S.E.2d 440, 446 (1991). And a law is still “general” “even though the class” it creates “is a small one.” *Battle*, 147 W. Va. at 848, 131 S.E.2d at 735. Restrictions like these can serve as sensible and cost-effective beta tests of legislative wisdom and effectiveness before the Legislature expands a statute to apply more broadly.

Petitioners cite no authority to say otherwise. For example, in *Groves v. County Court of Grant County*, 42 W. Va. 587, 26 S.E. 460 (1986) (cited at Br. 13), the statute had the clear effect of applying to a single county without mentioning that county by name. How? By explicitly applying only to counties “where the county seat” had “been relocated by a special act of the legislature” “since the first day of January, 1872.” *Groves*, 42 W. Va. at 590, 26 S.E. at 461. The statute raised suspicions right out of the gate as it became clear that “Grant [C]ounty stood alone as the one county having this peculiarity in its history.” *Id.* at 592, 26 S.E. at 461. To make things worse, no other county could ever “break into this closed circle of classification,” as the ratification of Article VI, Section 39 of the Constitution later prohibited the relocation of county seats by special law. *Id.* With Grant County locked in as the only possible member of the class without

the people's repeal or a court's overruling of that constitutional provision, it was clear that the Legislature had created it using a forbidden special law.

The Legislature ran into a different sort of problem in *State ex rel. City of Charleston v. Bosely*, 165 W. Va. 332 268 S.E.2d 590 (1980). There, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia considered a statute that authorized a municipal “excise tax upon the occupancy of hotel rooms” to fund the development of “arenas, auditoriums, civic centers and convention centers.” *Id.* at 333, 341, 268 S.E.2d at 592, 595 (citing W. VA. CODE § 8-13-3 (1975)). But only cities of a certain size—specifically, those with at least 50,000 residents—were allowed to collect this tax. *Bosely*, 165 W. Va. at 341, 268 S.E.2d at 596. In practice, this provision meant only the cities of Huntington and Charleston could qualify. *Id.* at 343, 268 S.E.2d at 597. Because there was “no rational reason to restrict the benefits of the tax to” just two cities, the Court held that this statute was a special law. *Id.* at 341, 268 S.E.2d at 596. The “promotion of tourism and the development of civic facilities,” after all, were “statewide concerns,” and “every community, *perhaps more so in the case of our smaller municipalities*,” had an interest in “stimulat[ing] economic growth.” *Id.* at 341-42, 268 S.E.2d at 596 (emphasis added). It was therefore “arbitrar[y] and unreasonabl[e]” for the Legislature to provide a “mechanism to local governments to further these goals if it excludes a single municipality on the basis of population.” *Id.*

The District Act could not be more different from the statutes in *Groves* and *Bosely*. For starters, the act is an actual class-based law: It permits the West Virginia Department of Economic Development to designate up to five tourism development projects as special Districts so long as they meet the municipality-size and aggregate-cost-total requirements. W. VA. CODE § 5B-1-9(d), (e)(f). True, Hill Top is the only project that has sought this designation so far, and it is in Harpers Ferry. But the District Act does not “take[] as the class characteristic ... the idiosyncra[s]y or

peculiarity of” the Hill Top project or Harpers Ferry as did the statute in *Groves*. *Groves*, 42 W. Va. at 592-93, 26 S.E. at 462. Nor is it afflicted by the means-ends disconnect that doomed the *Bosely* legislation. There, the Legislature designed the statute to “implement a general statewide program of civic and economic development,” syl. pt. 4, *Bosely*, 165 W. Va. 332, 268 S.E.2d 590, but by choosing to “confer these benefits only upon those cities with a population in excess of fifty thousand,” it failed to satisfy those statewide goals, *id.* at 341, 268 S.E.2d at 596; *see also* A.R. 325 (“[T]he classification [in *Bosely*] was contrary to the purpose of the legislation.”). The “concept of population-based classification” was therefore “not [in] question,” but the “relationship *between* the classification and the legislative purpose of promoting statewide tourism and municipal development.” *Bosely*, 165 W. Va. at 343, 268 S.E.2d at 597 (emphasis added); *see also id.* at 340, 268 S.E.2d at 595 (“legislative classifications based on population are not per se invalid,” and are constitutional so long as they “natural, reasonable and appropriate to the purpose of the statute”); *accord Donaldson v. Gainer*, 170 W. Va. 300, 307, 294 S.E.2d 103, 110 (1982) (approving population-based classes if “they are found to be reasonable and rationally related to the statutory purpose involved”).

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